DEGREES OF UNCERTAINTY:
STUDENTS AND THE
BRAIN DRAIN IN
SOUTHERN AFRICA

Published by Idasa, 6 Spin Street, Church Square, Cape Town, 8001, and Southern African Research Centre, Queen's University, Canada.

Copyright SAMP 2005 ISBN 1-919798-84-6

First published 2005 Design by Bronwen Müller Typeset in Goudy

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without prior permission from the publishers. Bound and printed by Megadigital, Cape Town

# DEGREES OF UNCERTAINTY: STUDENTS AND THE BRAIN DRAIN IN SOUTHERN AFRICA

JONATHAN CRUSH, WADE PENDLETON AND DANIEL S. TEVERA

Series Editor: Prof. Jonathan Crush

SOUTHERN AFRICAN MIGRATION PROJECT 2005

Contents	PAGE	
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1	
Introduction	5	
DEVELOPING SKILLS: A PROFILE	8	
Demographic Profile	8	
Training Profile	11	
THOUGHTS OF HOME	12	
LEAVING HOME	20	
GOING FOR GOOD?	27	
GO VERNMENT RESPONSES	32	
Conclusion	34	
Endnotes	36	
MIGRATION POLICY SERIES	38	
TABLES	PAGE	
Table 1: Demographic Profile of Final-Year Students	10	
TABLE 2: POTENTIAL SKILLS TRAINING PROFILE	13	
Table 3: Belonging. Identity and Commitment	16	
TABLE 4: SATISFACTION AND EXPECTATIONS ABOUT ECONOMIC CONDITIONS	17	
TABLE 5: EXPECTATIONS ABOUT THE FUTURE	19	
TABLE 6: MOVING TO ANOTHER COUNTRY	20	
TABLE 7: LIKELIHOOD OF LEAVING HOME COUNTRY AFTER GRADUATION	20	
TABLE 8: APPLICATION FOR EMIGRATION DOCUMENTATION	21	
TABLE 9: COMPARISON OF OTHER COUNTRIES WITH HOME	23	
Table 10: Preferred Countries of Destination	24	

TABLE 11: LEAVING HOME FOR THE MLD	24
TABLE 12: CONDITIONS IN THE MLD	25
TABLE 13: MOST IMPORTANT REASONS TO GO TO MLD	26
TABLE 14: LENGTH OF STAY IN THE MLD	28
TABLE 15: TYPE OF RESIDENCE IN THE MLD	29
Table 16: Strength of Links with Home	29
Table 17: Maintaining Links With Home	30
Table 18: Leaving the Home Country	31
TABLE 19: KNOWLEDGE OF PEOPLE WHO HAVE LEFT THE COUNTRY	31
Table 20: Influence of Home Government Policies	33

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to express their sincere thanks to everyone involved in SAMP'S Potential Skills Base Survey (PSBS). In particular, the authors want to thank the research teams that collected the PSBS data. They include the following individuals and their country research teams: Eugene Campbell (University of Botswana), Thuso Green (Sechaba Consultants Lesotho), Robert Mattes (University of Cape Town), Selma Nangulah (University of Namibia), Hamilton Simelane (University of Swaziland), and Daniel S. Tevera (University of Zimbabwe). Wade Pendleton coordinated the project for SAMP. Christa Schier prepared analysis tables for each country partner to assist with the data analysis and she created the database for cross-country analysis used in this report. The research was funded by the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) and the UK Department for International Development (DFID).

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

he brain drain has recently emerged as a major policy issue in Souther n Africa. Although precise data on the extent of the skills exodus is lacking, all the countries of the region have expressed concern about the impact of an accelerating brain drain on economic growth and development and on the quality of service delivery in the public sector. The impact of the brain drain is being exacerbated by the HIV/AIDS epidemic which is debilitating and "killing off" large numbers of people in their most productive years. Rather than adopting "brain gain" strategies (importing skills to replace those departing) most SADC countries have preferred a "brain train" strategy. Their rationale is that training of sufficient numbers of citizens in new skills is the only way to ensure that the skills base is not depleted in the long run. In theory, this makes a great deal of sense. Home grown skilled people are more likely to be "loyal" and to remain when others might leave. But is this really so? The whole argument begins to look rather suspect if it can be shown that governments are, in fact, providing students not with skills to invest at home but passports to leave. In a globalizing world of increased skills mobility, the opportunities for using skills as a ticket to a better life elsewhere are growing. What are the implications if the next generation of skilled people are just as likely to leave as their predecessors? If new graduates are simply preparing to leave, governments will have to fundamentally rethink their strategies on skills retention

SAMP has conducted extensive research on the magnitude and impact of the brain drain from South Africa and several other SADC countries. One prominent ANC Minister reviewed the SAMP evidence for an accelerating brain drain and hypothesized to us that this was a temporary problem. He argued that today's students were far more loyal to their country of birth and that as they came onto the labour market, they would be much less anxious to leave than their parents' generation. SAMP agreed to test this assertion with a major, representative study of the attitudes of final-year students in six SADC countries. A large sample of almost 10 000 final-year students was interviewed in training institutions across the region (universities, technikons, teach training colleges, nursing training colleges and so on). The findings of this survey are presented here. The results should be a cause of great concern to governments and policy-makers.

In terms of general findings for the student body as a whole, the SAMP Potential Skills Base Survey (PSBS), administered in 2003, found the following:

• All students showed very high levels of patriotism and pride in

1

their identity as citizens of their own country. Over 80% said they were proud to be from their country and to be citizens. They were just as enthusiastic about passing these values on to their children.

- Equally striking was the high proportion of students who felt committed to the future development of their country. As many as 86% of students said their desire was to "help build" their country. A massive 92% said they felt a responsibility to contribute their talents and skills to the growth of their country.
- Offsetting this strong sense of national identity and commitment were real concerns about personal economic circumstances and the performance of national economies now and in the future. Only 2% of students were very satisfied with their personal economic circumstances and only a third thought these circumstances would be greatly improved five years hence. Students are very negative about current economic conditions in their country and only 10% felt that the state of their national economy would be much better five years hence.
- Less than 25% of all students felt that the cost of living, job availability, prospects for economic advancement, and level of taxation would get better or much better in the future. More students look forward to increased incomes and job security although here, too, the pessimists outweigh the optimists. On the health front, the vast majority felt the HIV/AIDS epidemic would get worse and only 35% thought that the availability of medical services would improve. Only 23% felt that their personal and family safety would improve in the future. Students in almost every country felt that government was not doing enough to create employment opportunities for new graduates

Students are thus extremely favourably disposed towards making a personal contribution to their country's development and simultaneously extremely disillusioned about current and future personal and national economic prospects. Such is the degree of pessimism in the region's training institutions, that the survey's findings about potential emigration came as no real surprise:

- As many as 79% of students have thought about moving to another country. Only 17% had not considered it at all. Just over half (53%) felt it likely they would be gone five years after graduation. As many as 35% said there was a likelihood of it happening within six months of graduation.
- The proportion of final-year students who had actually taken active steps to leave was predictably much smaller. Nineteen per cent have applied or were in the process of applying for work

permits abroad. Eleven per cent were applying for permanent residence elsewhere and 11% for citizenship.

- If students do leave are they more likely to leave the region or relocate to another country within SADC? The most likely destination is North America (31%) followed by Southem Africa (29%) and Europe (29%). Southem Africa was the first choice of students from Lesotho, Swaziland, Zimbabwe and Namibia. Europe was the first choice of South Africans. In other words, South African and Botswana students tend to look more outside the region while those from the other countries see a within-region destination as most desirable. Ironically, the two countries seen as most desirable are South Africa and Botswana.
- Salaries, cost of living, ability to find the job wanted and prospects for professional advancement were considered better or much better in the most likely destination. Other factors perceived to be better by a majority of students included better educational opportunities for children, medical services, upkeep of public amenities, availability of quality affordable products, and customer service.
- Do SADC students think they will leave for good? Around 25% said it was likely they would move for less than two years and 23% for more than two years. If nearly half of all new graduates are likely to leave their home country (and a quarter for longer than two years), this represents a significant long-term loss of new skills.
- The impact of the brain drain can be mitigated somewhat if emigrants retain strong social and economic ties with home. Less than 10% said they would give up their home, take all of their possessions or all of their assets out of the country. Similarly, very few were willing to give up their citizenship. Only 4% of students said they would never return once they had left. Over 60% said they would return at least once a year. Only 4% said they would not remit funds back home.

The emigration potential of SADC students on graduation is high and economic factors are paramount when students consider what to do in the future. The primary losers from the brain drain of new skills are likely to be Zimbabwe, Swaziland and Lesotho. The primary beneficiaries are likely to be North America and Europe and, within the region, South Africa and Botswana. South Africa, at the same time, is the most likely to lose home-trained skills. South Africa is likely to be both a victim and a beneficiary of the brain drain.

Although there is a remarkable degree of unanimity from country to country, some important differences did emerge. On just about every

measure of dissatisfaction, pessimism and desire to leave, Zimbabwean students scored significantly higher than students in other SADC states. They were extremely negative about their personal and national economic fortunes now and in the future. They showed the greatest desire to leave and the greatest likelihood of doing so. Yet, Zimbabwean students too expressed a willingness to put their skills to work in their own country. They just did not appear to see how this could happen. In terms of the other countries, Namibians were consistently most optimistic and Swazis most pessimistic.

Another difference of note concerns who pays for higher education. Obviously all governments invest heavily in higher education and training but the ways in which students support themselves varies considerably. Across the region, nearly half of all students were on government bursaries with the next highest category of support being personal/family funds (26% of students) and then bank loans (12%). The degree of government support varied from country to country with a high of 88% in Botswana to a low of 14% in South Africa. South African students are disproportionately funded by family and personal funds (44%) compared with a low of only 5% in Botswana. Only in Zimbabwe were the majority of students (36%) supported by banks or study loans.

Students were not averse, on the whole, to some form of cash or inservice payback for government grants and loans. Nor, significantly, was there great opposition to measures often mooted by governments to discourage new graduates from leaving e.g. national service or bonding. These kinds of measures are generally not going to cause people to leave in protest. The fact remains, though, that governments face an uphill struggle if they are going to keep students at home, capitalize on their desire to serve, and recoup their investment in skills development. Failing that, governments should be looking at taking advantage of the new global market in skills and importing skills trained elsewhere. In truth, they should probably be doing that already.

#### Introduction

In the new global economy, many developing countries are facing a serious loss of home-trained skills to their competitors. The "brain drain" has become an issue of growing policy concern in the developing world. In Southern Africa, too, the brain drain is having a major economic and social impact. In a region being adversely affected by poverty, food scarcity, unemployment, as well as HIV/AIDS, recruiting and retaining skilled and experienced people has become a major challenge. As well as impacting the existing skills base, the brain drain threatens the potential skills base in Southem Africa as students and new graduates consider the possibility of emigrating in search of greener pastures.

There is a great deal of anecdotal evidence that even before graduation, students in many countries of SADC begin considering permanent or temporary emigration as an important if not indispensable career option. This is in sharp contrast to many other countries where new graduates feel that their best career option is to enter the local labour market as quickly as possible and begin a career trajectory which will see them rise to the top of their profession in their own country. The question is whether this image of a hugely dissatisfied student population in SADC is an accurate one. If it is, then governments must be aware that the "brain drain" actually starts before skills are moulded into final shape. If it is a myth, then governments can at least take solace from the fact that the next generation of skilled people is more likely to stick around than the current one.

While the SADC consists of thirteen sovereign states, it is also a regional grouping with common goals of economic integration and cooperation. In that sense, the loss of one brain from one country is a loss to all. The region's continued economic growth is contingent upon the continued supply, retention and integration of new skills. The importance of skills supply has been made even more pressing by the HIV/AIDS epidemic which is killing off large numbers of skilled people in their most productive economic years. Most countries of the region (with the notable exception of Botswana) have not thought it necessary to date to develop a proactive policy to attract skills through immigration. That may soon change as the pressures of skills loss and skills death curb economic expansion. Already, South Africa is moving in the direction of a more open immigration policy, and other countries in SADC may soon be forced to do likewise.

The brain drain in Southern Africa has at least three dimensions. First, within countries, there is a serious brain drain from the public to the private sector. This is particularly evident in the health sector

where public health systems are increasingly overburdened and understaffed.8 Second, there is an intra-country brain drain within the SADC. Here there are clear winners and losers. South Africa and Botswana, with the most vibrant economies within SADC, stand to gain the most from the "redistribution" of skills within SADC. Countries such as Lesotho, Swaziland, Zambia and Zimbabwe have been equally clear losers. Third, there is the brain drain proper, where skilled people emigrate from the SADC region, either temporarily or permanently. The degree of permanence of emigration has an important influence on the overall economic impact of skills loss. The impact may be mitigated if brain drainers maintain links with home and send remittances home. <sup>9</sup> The Zimbabwean economy, for example, is increasingly propped up by remittances received from Zimbabweans living abroad. On the other hand, not all brains drain permanently. Many who leave do eventually come back. But there are those who intend a temporary sojourn abroad and end up staying away permanently.

The cost to a country of losing a seasoned professional is clearly greater, in the short term, than a new graduate. There is no substitute for experience. Equally, it is vital that the countries of SADC build and maintain robust institutions of technical training and higher learning. Most countries invested heavily in skills development after independence and have adequate to excellent training facilities. South Africa is probably the regional leader with the greatest variety and strength of world-class training institutions. 10 The challenge there has been to deracialize the potential skills pool following the collapse of apartheid. The truth is that the potential skills base of each country, and the region as a whole, is a vital component of long-term strategies for development and growth. If the skills base is unsettled and unhappy and inclined to leave with newly-minted certificates and degrees in hand, governments have a serious problem. Every government wants its trainees (many of whom it pays for itself) to be committed to their home country and to remain and build for the future. As this paper shows, SADC governments have a considerable challenge on their hands.

The present paper examines the question of the potential for emigration of the region's skills-in-training (what we refer to as the potential skills base or PSB). Most studies of the brain drain ignore the aspirations and experiences of tomorrow's skilled professionals. This is an important gap in the research and policy literature. There is a strong possibility, for example, that today's students feel less threatened by political and economic transformation, and more optimistic and idealistic than their older, more weather-beaten forbears. On the other hand, students of today are far more conscious of living in a globalizing world. They know very well that their skills and training also constitute a

potential passport to personal and professional advancement elsewhere. By examining the attitudes and aspirations of the region's potential skills base, we are in a good position to know whether the brain drain is likely to continue, other things being equal. There is also a sense among governments that strategies to stem the brain drain must target the newly-trained, whether this be through bonding, national service, or curriculum reform. How are the targets of these actions likely to react? Will they make students less or, as some have claimed, more likely to leave?

This paper, based on a large representative SAMP survey of final-year students at training institutions across the region, addresses these and a number of other important questions. Each country faces its own unique challenges but it also shares many common elements with the other countries of the region. Do all countries face a similar brain drain problem? Does the emigration potential of tomorrow's skilled population vary from country to country? Do attitudes towards staying and leaving vary from country to country? Are all countries investing in skills development only to have those skills creamed off by others? Or are some likely to benefit from the losses of others through intra-regional migration? Which countries are likely to face the most serious skills crisis in the coming years? And what do the soon-to-graduate feel about their career prospects in their home country and how these might be improved?

The present paper seeks to provide regional organizations, goverments and training institutions with a "snapshot" of the situation across as much of the SADC region as resources would allow. Institutions are obviously interested in the question of whether they are simply training up a pool of skills which will be constantly depleted by countries in search of skills that they have not themselves invested in training. Governments, who fund and subsidize much higher education in Southern Africa out of the public purse, want to know whether their investment in the skills of tomorrow is a sound strategy for future economic development.

# DEVELOPING SKILLS: A PROFILE

he SAMP Potential Skills Base Sur vey (PSBS) was conducted in six Southern African countries (Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland and Zimbabwe) in 2003 using the same questionnaire and methodology. The standarized questionnaire was adapted collaboratively from a previous SAMP skills base survey. Each SAMP partner institution compiled a list of final year students by faculty and training institution, obtained the necessary approvals to conduct the survey and travelled to the relevant institutions to collect the data. In South Africa a marketing company, MARKINOR, did the data collection. The sample size was designed to be proportional to the number of final year students by faculty and institution. In most cases it was not possible to get data from all classes or students selected, and the final dataset for each country was weighted according to the original sample design.

The final data base has information on almost 10,000 students including 1 201 from Botswana, 1 036 from Lesotho, 893 from Namibia, 4 532 from South Africa, 1 031 from Swaziland and 1 050 from Zimbabwe. The data base was created by combining the country files into a regional SPSS dataset. This SPSS dataset was used for the tables and analysis in this report; the unweighted number of respondents for each country is given in Table 1 and the weighted totals in Table 2. The country totals are similar for the remaining tables, only varying by question and country due to missing data; the 'n' value is therefore not included on those tables. Percentages in the tables are for columns enabling country comparisons.

#### DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE

Table 1 shows the basic demographics of the nearly 10,000 students interviewed during the PSBS in the six SADC countries. Since these students were essentially selected at random, the data provides a useful profile of the sex, age, race, language, marital status and socio-economic status of the region's current student population.

In terms of the gender breakdown, there were slightly more female respondents than males (52% compared to 48%). This is perhaps surprising given the patriarchal character of many Southern African societies and the gender ed "division of labour" within many existing professions. This does suggest that women are now accessing post-secondary training at a much higher rate than in the past. South Africa, Botswana and Lesotho all had fewer male respondents than females, with Lesotho the lowest at 36%. This highly skewed gender distribution is consistent with Lesotho's migrant profile, where many males are

migrant workers primarily in South Africa. Zimbabwe, with 62% males, had the largest number of male respondents. The uneven distribution in Zimbabwe reflects the fact that traditionally males had more access to education than females; however, this is slowly changing.

In terms of the age profile, only Botswana had more respondents aged 24 years and above (39%) than below (62%). Most of those interviewed were below 24 years and South Africa had the most youthful PSB with 72% of the respondents aged below 24 years.

The black African population made up more than 90% of the students interviewed in all the countries with the exception of South Africa. There blacks only constituted 48% of the respondents. The fact that the proportion of black students interviewed is not nationally representative of the racial breakdown of the country is not a reflection of any sampling bias. Rather, it reflects the legacy of apartheid where white students still enjoy unequal access to quality secondary and all tertiary education. Thus, South Africa had an exceptionally high number of whites in the sample, making up 40%. The rest of the countries had less than 2% each. South Africa also had the highest percentage of students with English as a first language (27%).

South Africa had the lowest number of students who identified themselves as of lower socio-economic class status (16%), compared to Lesotho with 45%. The working and middle classes had more or less similar figures for the six countries averaging 25% and 34%, respectively. South Africa had the highest percentage in the upper-middle class band (21%) followed by Namibia with 6%. Lesotho had no students who self-identified as being in the upper-middle and upper classes. In South Africa, the wealthy and the privileged therefore still appear to have disproportionate access to higher education.

In terms of area of origin, more students come from rural than urban backgrounds. Across the region, 40% had homes located in rural communal areas, 19% in small towns, and only 15% in the cities. Swaziland had the highest number of students (60%) with homes located in the rural communal areas. The highest proportions of urban residents were in South Africa (75%), Zimbabwe (65%) and Lesotho (52%).

The majority of the students interviewed were single (83%). Lesotho had the highest percent of married people at 24%, almost double the average for the six nations as a whole. The separated, divorced, abandoned or widowed made up only 5% of the total. The number of dependents per person was lowest for those countries with the highest socio-economic status and highest for those with the lowest socio-economic status. South Africa had the highest number of respondents with no dependents (76%) whereas all of the respondents from Lesotho had dependents.

Table 1: Demographic Profile of Final-Year Students											
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Sex of respondents	•										
Male	45.6	51.8	40.6	62.4	51.5	35.8	47.7				
Female	54.4	48.2	59.4	37.6	48.5	64.2	52.3				
Age of respondents											
23 years and less	71.8	62.0	38.5	58.8	52.6	59.2	59.0				
24 years and more	28.2	38.0	61.5	41.2	47.4	40.8	49.0				
Race of respondent	S		•				•				
Black	48.1	91.3	97.1	96.7	96.1	96.0	82.8				
White	40.3	1.4	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.6	11.6				
Coloured	6.9	7.2	1.5	2.3	2.4	2.3	4.1				
Asian/Indian	4.7	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.1	1.5				
Socio-economic sta	tus		•				•				
Lower class	15.8	34.7	37.4	29.6	33.6	44.7	30.5				
Working class	23.0	28.5	21.8	30.9	26.2	23.9	25.4				
Middle class	36.9	28.3	36.6	32.5	35.6	31.4	34.0				
Upper middle class	20.6	5.9	3.3	5.0	3.7	0.0	8.2				
Upper class	3.7	2.6	0.9	2.1	1.0	0.0	2.0				
Location of home					-						
Rural communal area	21.6	47.2	49.2	32.5	60.0	48.2	40.4				
Commercial farming area	3.8	4.7	3.2	2.2	6.0	-	3.9*				
Small town	25.6	24.5	22.6	18.1	16.5	-	21.5*				
Large town	13.4	9.9	6.2	9.1	5.0	-	8.7*				
City	28.2	7.5	11.2	26.0	6.6	51.8					
Urban	15.9*										
Capital city	7.3	6.1	7.6	12.1	5.8	7.8*					
Marital status				•			•				
Married	8.2	5.3	11.5	18	10.4	24.1	12.3				
Separated	0.6	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.5	1.4	0.6				
Divorced	0.8	0.6	1.1	1.2	0.4	0.8	0.8				
Abandoned	0.4	0.6	0.5	1.1	0.4	0.7	0.6				
Widowed	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.1	1.8	0.4				
Co-habitating/ living together	3.1	1.6	5.0	3.0	0.9	1.6	2.6				
Single	86.6	91.1	81.6	76.1	87.3	69.5	82.6				

Table 1 continued:										
Language spoken a	t home									
English	26.6	4.2	4.1	5.4	5.8	2.9	10.4			
Afrikaans	26.9	7.9	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	8.4			
Zulu	7.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.2	0.0	2.3			
Xhosa	13.8	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.4	3.8			
Sotho	9.3	0.0	0.9	1.5	0.1	96.6	17.2			
Tswana	6.0	1.3	77.8	0.0	0.0	0.1	13.5			
Tsonga/Shangaan and related	2.5	0.0	0.0	1.2	0.2	0.0	0.9			
Venda	3.4	0.3	08	1.2	0.0	0.0	1.3			
Swazi	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	89.0	0.0	12.9			
Ndebele	0.4	0.2	0.4	10.2	0.0	0.1	1.7			
Kalanga	0.2	0.0	12.8	1.1	0.1	0.0	2.2			
Shona	0.4	0.2	0.1	77.7	0.0	0.0	11.3			
Sena/Ndau related	0.2	0.0	0.9	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.3			
Nama/Damara	0.3	96	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.5			
Oshiwambo	0.1	46.2	0.0	0.0	00	0.0	6.8			
Otjiherero	0.1	7.4	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.2			
Kwangari	0.1	9.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4			
Lozi	0.1	10.5	00	0.1	0.0	0.0	1.6			
Portuguese	0.2	1.7	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.4			
Other	1.5	0.9	1.1	0.4	1.6	0.0	1.0			
Unweighted N	4532	893	1201	1050	1031	1036	9743			

Totals vary by question due to missing data

### TRAINING PROFILE

Most of the respondents (95%) were full-time students (Table 2). Those expecting to obtain certificates or diplomas and Bachelor's Degrees constituted 46% and 42% of the sample, respectively. South Africa had the highest number of respondents expecting to obtain Master's degrees and other qualifications.

Across the region, nearly half of all students were on government bursaries with the next highest category of support being personal/family funds (26% of students) and then bank loans (12%). The degree of government support varied from country to country with a high of 88% in Botswana to a low of 14% in South Africa. South African students

<sup>\*</sup> Lesotho excluded from average since data was not collected by urban categories, only urban.

are disproportionately funded by family and personal funds (44%) compared with a low of only 5% in Botswana. Only in Zimbabwe were the majority of students (36%) supported by banks or study loans.

Most government bursaries involve some kind of "payback." There were some differences from country to country but, on the whole, governments do not wish students to see their education as a "free ride" at the taxpayer's expense. Only 7% of students across the region said they were "required" to remain in their country after graduation, while 31% said they were required to work in the public sector. Less than half of the students on bursaries or scholarships are required to work in the public service in their countries after completing their studies. South Africa (12% of holders) and Zimbabwe (14%) place the least onerous obligation on new graduates and Botswana (53%) and Lesotho (49%) the heaviest. The three countries with the lowest rate of public obligation (South Africa, Namibia and Zimbabwe) were also those with the greatest number of students supported by families or personal funds.

The respondents were drawn from a wide variety of training institutions including universities and technical colleges, and nursing, agricultural and teacher training colleges. Faculties of Education and Social Sciences/Humanities/Arts and teacher training colleges comprised about 40% of the respondents. A significant proportion of the respondents were from Technical Colleges/Technicons (18%) and Faculties of Commerce (9%). The remainder were from other faculties including Engineering, Science, Medicine/Pharmacy, Law, Computer Science and Agriculture and other colleges. This analysis treats the sample as a whole although the sample size for some professions is sufficiently large to permit further analysis of emigration potential in particular sectors (health, teaching, commerce etc.).

#### THOUGHTS OF HOME

n assessing the emigration potential of today's student cohort, it is important to begin by asking what sorts of attitude they have towards "home." A sense of belonging, participation and opportunity is a powerful antidote to any errant longing for other pastures. A majority of students (56%) strongly agreed that they were proud to be from their particular country (Table 3). The highest level of pride was in Botswana (78%) followed by Lesotho (74%) and Namibia (72%). Zimbabwe, with 32%, had the lowest. As we will see throughout this paper, Zimbabwean students differ significantly on a number of key issues. This, of course, is largely attributable to the political problems and the resultant economic meltdown that the country has been experiencing, characterised by massive unemployment (70%) and hyper-

Table 2: Potential Skills Training Profile										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
Enrolment status										
Full-time	91.5	95.9	95.3	98.5	96.8	92.3	94.6			
Part-time	8.5	4.1	4.7	1.5	3.2	7.7	5.4			
Qualification										
Certificate/Diploma	37.2	55.5	46.1	39.4	53.3	54.1	46.2			
Bachelor's Degree	38.2	43.9	40.5	55.3	35.5	45.0	42.4			
Master's Degree	9.3	0.0	5.2	4.7	0.3	0.7	4.1			
Doctorate Degree	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.2			
Honours	4.5	0.3	8.2	0.0	10.9	0.2	4.1			
Other	10.5	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	2.9			
Sources of support f	or studies	•		•	•		•			
Government scholarship (no payback required)	3.7	5.3	13.7	3.3	9.4	6.3	6.4			
Government bursary (some payback required)	13.0	32.7	74.3	21.5	69.8	78.9	43.0			
University scholarship (no payback required)	6.1	0.7	1.3	1.5	0.4	0.7	2.3			
University bursary (some payback required)	5.0	1.2	1.3	0.9	0.8	1.6	2.2			
Technicon bursary (no payback required)	1.0	0.1	0.6	0.0	0.3	0.7	0.5			
Technicon bursary (some payback required)	5.5	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.6	1.0	1.8			
Personal/family funds	43.5	34.3	5.1	33.0	14.6	9.1	26.1			
Private scholarship	6.1	9.5	1.5	3.0	2.5	1.0	4.2			
Bank/study loan	13.7	14.9	1.2	36.4	0.5	0.6	12.5			
Other	1.7	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.6	0.2	0.7			
Don't know	0.6	0.3	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.3			
Conditions of bursar	y/scholarship									
Require you to remain in the country after completing your studies	2.2	5.6	5.8	4.7	9.7	17.4	7.5			

Table 2 continued:												
Require you to work in the public sector in your country	12.2	33.1	52.9	14.0	26.6	49.2	31.0					
Require you to work in the private sector in your country	6.9	11.2	2.9	4.8	1.3	3.6	5.2					
None of the above	60.4	40.4	22.9	63.1	29.7	29.3	41.4					
Don't know	18.4	9.7	15.5	13.4	32.7	0.5	15.0					
Faculty	Faculty											
University: Faculty of Engineering	4.6	0.8	8.5	4.8	0.6	0.3	3.5					
University: Faculty of Medicine/ Pharmacy	6.4	3.7	0.0	9.8	0.0	0.3	3.7					
University: Faculty of Science	4.7	13.0	4.0	10.5	3.3	2.2	6.1					
University: Faculty of Arts/Social Science/Humanities	9.4	7.3	18.8	21.7	11.2	18.1	13.8					
University: Faculty of Law	3.7	1.4	0.0	4.2	3.7	4.3	3.0					
University: Faculty of Commerce – Business	12.1	6.5	18.2	3.5	12.9	1.2	9.4					
University: Faculty of Computer Science/IT	1.0	0.9	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.5	0.6					
University: Faculty of Agriculture	2.0	3.0	4.6	0.4	10.5	4.5	3.9					
University: Faculty of Engineering	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0					
University: Other	2.7	0.2	0.0	0.1	6.7	0.5	1.8					
University: Faculty of Education	14.5	29.6	10.0	6.7	12.1	19.3	15.3					
Technical College/ Technicon: Technical Subjects	12.2	10.8	0.0	8.5	10.2	9.4	9.0					
Technical College/ Technicon: Commerce/Admin	12.5	8.2	2.0	8.7	6.4	15.7	9.3					
Technical College/ Technicon: IT/Computers	6.5	0.7	0.0	10.3	0.1	0.4	3.4					
Technical College/ Technicon: Medical Dental	4.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.1					

Table 2 continued:									
Technical College/ Technicon: Other	0.8	1.9	0.0	0.0	0.9	2.0	0.9		
Teacher Training College	0.0	10.7	22.1	10.0	15.5	18.2	11.2		
Nursing Training College	2.8	0.0	11.7	0.1	3.5	2.5	3.4		
Agricultural Training College	0.0	0.9	0.0	0.0	1.8	0.6	0.5		
Other	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.1	0.1		
Weighted N Totals	2172	1196	1200	1199	1195	1176	8138		

inflation averaging 500% during the past twelve months. With the exception of Zimbabwe then, students across the region are proud to belong to their home country.

Citizenship is also important for most students, with 82% agreeing that being a citizen of their country is an important part of personal identity. This feeling of patriotism was strongest in Botswana (86%) and weakest in Swaziland (59%). The success of the post-apartheid state's project of inclusive nation-building is reflected in the fact that 70% of South African students view their citizenship as an important part of their personal identity. As many as 78% of respondents also want their children to think of themselves as belonging to their country. Again, sentiment was strongest in Botswana and weakest in Swaziland. The anomalous situation in Swaziland must, in part, be a function of the well-attested disaffection of the country's educated elite with the monarchy and its system of patronage in government.<sup>11</sup>

Loyalty to country extends beyond personal identity and a sense of belonging. Students across the region were asked about their desire to "help build" their country. The response was overwhelmingly positive with 86% in general agreement. The level of commitment was strongest in Lesotho, Botswana and Namibia. Those who felt a strong desire to help build their country also felt it was their duty to contribute their talents and skills to the growth of their country. A massive 92% agreed that this was their responsibility. Again, the country breakdown was very similar with greatest levels of commitment in the same three countries. Even in Zimbabwe, students articulated a strong commitment to building their country (80%) and using their talents and skills to contribute to the growth of the country (78%). A perceived inability to contribute in this way would only add to the sense of frustration.

The data presented so far suggests that across SADC, students have (a) a strong sense of loyalty to their own country, (b) a keen sense of

the importance of citizenship to their personal identity and (c) an almost idealistic commitment to putting their skills and talents to work in the service of their country. The only discordant note was sounded by the surprisingly large number of students (61%) who agreed with the statement that it does not matter what citizenship one holds as long as one has a "good quality of life." In other words, there are circumstances in which "quality of life" factors may trump loyalty to the home country, identity as a citizen and commitment to staying to work and build. This is an important finding for it suggests that nationalism, loyalty and youthful idealism on their own may not be sufficient to keep skills in a country.

Table 3: Belonging. Identity and Commitment										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
It makes you proud to be from your country										
Strongly agree	49.9	72.0	77.8	32.2	35.8	74.3	56.1			
Agree	33.2	20.2	13.8	26.4	34.1	17.8	25.4			
Being a citizen of yo	ur country is	a very impo	rtant part of	how you se	e yourself					
Strongly agree	31.5	48.6	61.4	28.5	22.2	53.2	39.8			
Agree	39.0	35.6	25.0	32.3	37.3	29.2	33.8			
You would want you	r children to t	hink of ther	nselves as p	eople from	your country	,				
Strongly agree	41.5	60.1	66.2	34.3	28.6	55.8	47.0			
Agree	34.0	25.5	22.5	35.8	39.7	27.4	31.2			
It really does not ma	atter where yo	u are a citiz	zen as long	as you have	a good qua	ality of life				
Strongly agree	30.3	29.2	29.8	37.6	37.8	36.4	33.1			
Agree	32.1	27.9	28.9	26.3	28.9	22.8	28.4			
You have a strong d	esire to help	build your c	ountry	•	•					
Strongly agree	42.1	66.0	68.6	44.0	43.3	72.1	54.2			
Agree	36.7	28.4	26.7	35.5	41.2	20.8	32.2			
It is your duty to cor	tribute your to	alents and	skills to the o	growth of you	ur country					
Strongly agree	39.5	67.4	67.8	40.2	43.9	70.4	52.9			
Agree	33.1	25.9	25.2	37.6	41.2	22.1	31.1			
Only two top catego	ries reported		•				•			

Questions about pride, citizenship and children's identity were compared with a previous SAMP survey which asked the same questions in the same countries and was representative of national urban populations. The averages of those in agreement were between 8% and 16% lower for the student populations. Students are, it seems, somewhat less patriotic than ordinary citizens.<sup>12</sup>

Pursuing this line of argument, it is important to determine if students are satisfied with the "quality of life" in their home countries. In stark contrast to the positive sentiments about belonging, identity and commitment, perceptions of economic conditions are extremely gloomy. Table 4 reveals extremely low levels of satisfaction with both personal and general economic conditions in all the countries surveyed. Only 2% of students were very satisfied with their personal economic condition, a figure which may be artificially depressed by the fact that most students do struggle to make ends meet. Certainly, there is greater optimism about the future amongst some. Nearly a third thought their personal economic circumstances would be greatly improved five years hence. Optimism was uniform across the region, with the exception of Zimbabwe. Clearly, students there do not expect an early exit from the current morass.

Table 4: Satisfaction and Expectations about Economic Conditions											
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Satisfaction about co	Satisfaction about current personal economic condition										
Very satisfied	2.4	4.4	2.3	0.7	1.3	2.3	2.2				
Satisfied	22.3	21.2	14.9	2.4	6.5	9.1	14.0				
Expectation of person	nal economic	condition f	ive years fro	m now	-	-					
Much better	47.2	27.3	22.1	14.6	23.5	27.3	29.6				
Better	34.8	50.1	47.0	19.8	39.4	40.0	38.0				
Satisfaction about cu	urrent econon	nic condition	ns in your co	ountry	-	-					
Very satisfied	1.0	5.2	4.5	0.3	0.5	1.4	2.0				
Satisfied	16.2	26.8	33.0	0.5	3.4	5.5	14.5				
Expectation about e	conomic cond	dition in you	r country five	e years from	now						
Much better	9.3	21.8	11.7	4.8	2.6	9.3	9.8				
Better	36.0	36.8	30.2	15.4	11.1	28.5	27.6				
Is the government de	oing enough	to create en	nployment o	pportunities	for graduat	es					
Too much	1.1	5.4	3.4	0.7	0.4	10.9	3.3				
Enough	11.6	16.8	15.6	4.1	1.8	80.2	20.3				
Only two top categor	ries reported										

A better question to pose to students, perhaps, is about their per ception of the current state and future prospects of the national economy. However, the pessimism was as deep here as it was about personal economic conditions and futures. And students are much less optimistic about the country's future than their own future (which is explicable because many do not see their personal future lying in their own

country). Only 10% of all students felt that the state of their national economy would be much better five years hence. Swazis were even more pessimistic than Zimbabweans. Only Namibian students bucked the trend and were actually relatively positive about the longer-term economic prospects for their country.

In all of the countries, most students felt that government was not doing enough to create employment opportunities for new graduates. Swazi and Zimbabwean students were particularly critical. South African students also feel that government could do a lot more. The exception was Lesotho where 80% felt that government was doing enough. This finding must in part be a function of the government's policy towards for eign investment in the textile industry, which has seen significant growth recently.

Table 5 takes a broader approach to perceptions of future prospects. In terms of various economic measures, sentiment varied little from country to country. Less than 25% of all students felt that the cost of living, job availability, prospects for economic advancement, and level of taxation would get better or much better in the future. Only in Namibia were students more optimistic. More students look forward to increased incomes and job security although here, too, the pessimists outweigh the optimists. On the health front, the vast majority felt the HIV/AIDS epidemic would get worse and only 35% thought that the availability of medical services would improve.

Amongst the general skilled population, personal safety and security issues loom large. Students are just as concerned. Only 23% felt that their personal and family safety would improve in the future. And only a third felt positive about the future prospects for their children in the country. Across all of these measures, there was some variation from country to country but again, it is only Namibian students who seemed to be genuinely optimistic about the future. Swazis were particularly downcast about the country's economic prospects.

To this point, we have established that the potential skills base of Southern Africa is extremely loyal and committed to making a difference. Unfortunately, the same students (with the exception of Namibians) are also extremely negative about social and economic conditions and prospects in their country. Will loyalty and national commitment outweigh poor quality of life and prospects?

Table 5: Expectations About the Future											
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Get better or much b	etter	-		-	_						
Cost of living	19.8	42.6	19.8	19.7	9.9	23.7	22.2				
Ability to find the job I want	20.3	36.3	13.3	20.0	9.1	27.8	20.9				
Prospects for professional advancement	29.8	51.2	25.5	27.6	21.7	33.9	31.3				
HIV/AIDS situation	11.7	19.7	20.2	11.3	4.2	15.9	13.2				
The security of your job	21.5	38.9	24.3	20.9	11.9	39.0	25.4				
Your level of income	46.3	57.9	43.5	25.3	30.8	28.1	39.7				
Ability to find a house you want to live in	28.4	46.1	21.6	14.2	21.0	29.9	27.0				
Ability to find a good school for your children	32.2	56.6	35.6	20.5	31.8	44.2	36.3				
Ability to find medical services for family and children	29.9	58.1	37.2	18.1	28.8	38.4	34.4				
A level of fair taxation	17.3	21.7	10.5	11.9	5.6	19.3	14.8				
Your personal safety	17.6	40.4	22.0	17.5	12.6	33.0	23.0				
Your family's safety	18.0	41.4	22.3	17.5	12.9	34.0	23.4				
The future of your children in the home country	31.2	45.5	35.2	18.8	17.6	36.7	32.3				
Quality upkeep of public amenities (eg parks, beaches, toilets etc.)	25.8	51.5	36.4	13.2	23.0	23.8	28.5				
Availability of quality affordable products	26.0	44.0	37.6	16.2	19.1	28.6	28.2				
Customer service	31.0	51.7	37.4	17.4	24.0	30.7	31.9				

#### LEAVING HOME

s leaving part of the mental universe of post-graduation possibilities for Southern African students? For a significant number of students, it is. Some 45% have given a great deal of thought to moving to another country, while another 34% have given it some thought (Table 6). Only 17% said they had not considered it at all. Zimbabwean students have given the most thought to leaving (92% some/great deal of thought), followed by Swazis (85%), South Africans (81%), Basotho (79%), Namibians (69%) and BaTswana (67%). Namibians (at 27%) have given the possibility least thought of all.

Table 6: Moving to Another Country									
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average		
Consideration of moving abroad									
A great deal	40.0	28.9	33.3	71.2	55.8	43.8	44.8		
Some	41.4	40.4	33.7	20.8	29.4	34.4	34.4		
None at all	15.7	26.6	27.4	6.0	11.1	17.9	17.2		
Don't know	2.9	4.1	5.7	1.9	3.7	4.0	3.6		

Thinking about leaving does not mean it will automatically happen. Students were therefore next asked about the likelihood of their leaving. Just over half (53%) felt it likely they would be gone five years after graduation (Table 7). As many as 35% said there was a likelihood of it happening within six months of graduation. Zimbabweans are the most likely to move from their home country at each time period, followed by Swazis, Basotho and South Africans. The question, of course, is how realistic students are being in their assessment of likelihood. But if student assessment of their own future situation is in any way accurate, every country in the region faces the prospect of a dramatic skills loss of new graduates in the next 5 years.

Table 7: Likelihood of Leaving Home Country After Graduation										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
Likelihood of moving	Likelihood of moving: likely or very likely									
Six months after graduation	36.5	28.5	21.0	56.2	31.3	37.1	35.5			
Two years after graduation	48.2	47.4	39.8	70.0	55.3	55.1	52.1			
Five years after graduation	47.6	58.1	49.8	59.5	58.7	50.3	53.2			
Each question is ind	ependent; co	lumns do no	ot total 100%	, o	-					

While perceived likelihoods are high, the proportion of final-year students who had actually taken active steps to leave was predictably much smaller. Nineteen per cent have applied or were in the process of applying for work permits abroad (Table 8). Eleven per cent were applying for permanent residence elsewhere and 11% for citizenship. Again there is not a great deal of variation from country-to-country with the exception of Zimbabwe (with 27% applying for work permits and 15% for permanent residence in other countries).

In comparative terms, South Africa and Zimbabwe are often cited as the two countries facing the greatest exodus of skills. The data for student intentions confirms the Zimbabwean prognosis. But it suggests too that South Africa is no better (or worse) off than other countries of the region. All face a similar depletion of the skills base. Of course, in absolute terms the numbers are much larger in South Africa. But then the South African economy may be much more able to cope with the loss than, say, the enclave economies of countries like Lesotho and Swaziland.

Table 8: Applicatio	Table 8: Application for Emigration Documentation										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Applied for a work permit in MLD											
Yes	7.1	7.6	3.1	8.1	4.9	8.6	6.6				
In the process of applying	7.8	15.3	11.4	19.3	11.9	14.7	12.7				
Applied for a permanent resident permit in MLD											
Yes	3.7	3.5	1.5	4.7	3.0	5.0	3.6				
In the process of applying	3.4	8.3	5.7	10.3	7.3	10.5	7.1				
Applied for citizensh	ip in MLD										
Yes	4.9	4.4	1.5	4.3	4.9	6.1	4.4				
In the process of applying	3.0	6.5	4.0	10.2	8.8	10.9	6.7				
Only two categories	are reported	here		-	•	•	•				

Students who are thinking of leaving will have given some thought to where they want to go. The important question here is whether they would prefer to move within the region or to leave altogether. Table 9 compares their perceptions of their own country in comparison to others in terms of whether they would do better in another specified region or country. Almost three-quarters of the entire sample felt that they would do better in Europe (76%), North America (75%), and

Australia/New Zealand (73%). Within the region, only South Africa (73%) and Botswana (56%) scored well. Students in Zimbabwe, Lesotho and Swaziland generally rated South Africa as a destination even more highly than they did Europe and North America. Zimbabweans rated Botswana very highly too. Students in South Africa and Namibia felt that they would be better off in Europe and North America and did not rate other countries in the region at all positively. Zimbabwe is seen throughout the region as the worst alternative place to live, a sad commentary on the negative image that country now carries amongst ordinary educated people within SADC.

Although most SADC students see industrialised countries as places where they could do better, those from countries with weak economies (Zimbabwe, Swaziland and Lesotho) have a high regard for other African countries like South Africa, Botswana and Namibia. Preferences are greater for African countries with stronger economies. Respondents from countries with strong economies such as South Africa, Botswana and Namibia have the least interest in other African countries.

If every student acted on these preferences, there would be a massive skills exodus to Europe and North America and a significant internal brain drain to South Africa and, to a lesser extent, Botswana. Zimbabweans, in particular, would be moving to Botswana and South Africa in large numbers to ply their skills. In point of fact, there are no surprises at all in these figures. They simply suggest, in a general sort of way, that existing brain drain patterns are likely to be reinforced in the behaviour of the next generation of skilled people.

Because perceptions of difference do not translate automatically into decisions to move, SAMP has used the concept of the FPC (First Preferred Country) and MLD (Most Likely Destination). In other words, if a student was to leave where would they be most likely to go? There is little discernible difference between FPC and MLD, suggesting that they are essentially measuring the same thing. Table 10 shows that the MLD for all students is North America (31%) followed by Southern Africa (29%) and Europe (29%). Southern Africa was the first choice of people from Lesotho (61%), Swaziland (44%), Zimbabwe (39%) and Namibia (37%). Europe was the first choice of 44% of South Africans. If students in South Africa and Botswana are going to stay within the region, they have virtually no desire to leave their own countries. Again, there are important inter-country differences. South African and Botswana students tend to look more outside the region while those from the other countries see a within-region destination as most desirable. Ironically, the two countries seen as most desirable are South Africa and Botswana.

Table 9: Comparison of Other Countries with Home										
ve Swaziland	Lesotho	Average								
intries										
64.5	78.8	56.2								
21.7	N/A	26.2								
16.9	15.7	21.3								
29.5	25.4	31.2								
N/A	32.3	27.2								
14.6	18.7	12.1								
81.5	77.5	73.3								
14.5	21.5	20.0								
13.1	16.0	16.5								
18.3	19.1	17.3								
19.4	21.4	19.1								
21.5	22.2	20.9								
18.2	24.0	19.4								
36.1	31.4	28.5								
79.5	69.6	75.7								
77.1	70.3	74.6								
70.5	66.1	73.0								
55.5	52.0	52.3								

Whether a new graduate actually leaves home for their MLD is obviously influenced by a complex interplay of general and personal push and pull factors. Common push factors include conditions in the home country such as lack of adequately-remunerated employment. Pull factors are the attractive conditions in the MLD such as availability of higher paying jobs. Almost half of the respondents thought that getting a job in the MLD would be easy/very easy and almost as many thought that they would be able to get a job in their field (Table 11).

Salaries, the cost of living, ability to find the job wanted and prospects for professional advancement were all considered better/much better in the MLD by over half the students (Table 12). The highest percentage was reported by Zimbabweans (between about 80% and 90%) and lowest by Namibians (between 36% and 52%). Other factors perceived to be better in the MLD by a majority of students included better educational opportunities for children, medical services, upkeep of public amenities, availability of quality affordable products, and

Table 10: Preferred	l Countries o	of Destinati	on							
South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
First preferred country (FPC)										
Southern Africa	7.2	42.4	0.6	36.1	44.5	59.7	28.8			
Elsewhere in Africa	0.5	3.2	0.2	0.3	0.8	1.0	0.9			
Europe	43.5	27.9	1.1	29.1	28.8	19.3	27.5			
North America	28.0	18.3	95.1	23.8	17.8	13.0	31.6			
Australia/New Zealand	16.3	5.3	0.0	9.4	5.1	4.2	8.0			
Asia	4.5	2.8	2.9	1.4	3.1	2.8	3.1			
Most likely destination	on (MLD)									
Southern Africa	7.3	36.5	0.5	38.8	44.1	61.0	28.6			
Elsewhere in Africa	0.7	2.3	0.1	0.6	0.3	1.5	0.9			
Europe	44.8	31.3	1.3	28.2	31.6	19.8	28.7			
North America	25.0	21.6	95.3	22.3	16.3	11.4	30.7			
Australia/New Zealand	18.2	5.5	0.0	8.0	4.2	3.0	8.0			
Asia	4.0	2.8	2.8	2.1	3.4	3.3	3.2			

Table 11: Leaving Home for the MLD										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
Very easy/easy (%)										
To leave the country	43.0	43.4	36.2	35.8	37.0	39.8	39.7			
To get a job	53.5	38.2	36.6	65.8	43.8	45.6	48.1			
To get a job in your field	40.4	53.3	67.7	38.4	20.5	38.4	42.8			
Each question is ind	ependent; co	lumns do no	ot total 100%	6		•				

customer service. Comparing the responses for different countries suggests that Zimbabweans and South Africans have the most positive perception of their MLD. While Zimbabweans are particularly attuned to the economic benefits in their MLD, South Africans focus more on safety and security issues.

The most important reasons given for emigrating to the MLD are given in Table 13. The three most important reasons are fairly consistent across the six nations: level of income, ability to find a job, and cost of living. The only respondents to rank the cost of living first were Zimbabweans. Economic and employment reasons clearly dominate the thinking of students when it comes to thinking about emigration.

Table 12: Condition	s in the ML	D					
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average
Better or much bette	r in MLD	•	•	•	•		•
Cost of living	41.8	35.7	41.5	90.7	54.9	56.3	52.0
Ability to find the job I want	55.6	37.1	38.8	80.5	66.9	57.2	56.1
Prospects for professional advancement	59.6	51.6	54.9	81.8	80.1	62.7	64.5
HIV/AIDS situation	63.0	41.9	52.6	57.1	40.9	34.3	52.8
The security of your job	53.9	36.6	29.6	71.0	55.7	48.5	50.0
Your level of income	78.8	63.3	68.0	92.9	89.9	81.3	79.2
Ability to find a house you want to live in	36.9	33.6	43.0	70.7	65.0	56.8	49.2
Ability to find a good school for your children	50.7	51.3	56.0	71.5	70.0	64.2	59.4
Ability to find medical services for family and children	55.8	47.4	53.4	85.0	73.7	68.6	63.0
A level of fair taxation	40.9	26.3	24.8	79.2	43.1	33.4	41.3
Your personal safety	66.4	32.3	25.5	69.2	41.4	37.0	48.1
Your family's safety	66.2	30.0	23.2	67.4	39.4	34.9	46.7
The future of your children in your home country	47.3	34.4	37.1	68.4	50.9	50.6	48.1
Quality upkeep of public amenities (eg parks, beaches, toilets etc.)	65.8	55.0	59.7	78.7	74.3	67.6	66.7
Availability of quality affordable products	57.0	56.7	64.7	89.6	72.6	73.5	67.5
Customer service	53.5	49.4	54.8	80.9	62.9	59.1	59.3
Each question is inde	ependent; co	lumns do n	ot total 100%	6	•	•	•

Table 13: Most Important Reasons to go to MLD										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
Most important reason	ons to go to M	MLD		-			•			
Cost of living	7.4	9.7	10.8	25.2	8.5	10.2	11.6			
Ability to find the job I want	13.2	8.9	9.8	16.2	17.5	13.0	13.2			
Prospects for professional advancement	6.6	12.5	14.6	10.8	15.4	9.1	10.8			
HIV/AIDS situation	5.5	7.9	4.3	0.6	1.3	0.0	3.5			
The security of your job	5.7	3.8	4.2	3.0	6.6	5.0	4.8			
Your level of income	17.8	14.3	21.5	18.0	23.5	17.7	18.6			
Ability to find a house you want to live in	1.6	2.8	2.3	2.0	2.2	4.6	2.5			
Ability to find a good school for your children	2.7	8.6	6.4	1.1	5.0	9.1	5.1			
Ability to find medical services for family and children	1.9	3.9	5.4	3.3	4.3	5.4	3.8			
A level of fair taxation	4.2	2.3	2.0	2.7	3.4	2.7	3.0			
Your personal safety	10.7	3.9	3.0	4.7	2.6	3.2	5.4			
Your family's safety	12.7	3.6	2.4	2.3	2.4	4.8	5.7			
The future of your children in your home country	5.7	4.9	4.0	3.0	3.6	5.8	4.7			
Quality upkeep of public amenities (eg parks, beaches, toilets etc.)	1.5	2.3	2.3	0.5	0.6	2.6	1.6			
Availability of quality affordable products	2.0	6.9	5.3	6.1	2.4	4.0	4.2			
Customer service	0.8	3.8	1.7	0.5	0.5	2.7	1.6			

Combined totals for first, second and third most important reasons; percents are of total responses by country

Thus far, we have shown that the emigration potential of SADC students is high and that economic factors are paramount when considering what to do in the future. The primary losers from the brain drain of new skills are likely to be Zimbabwe, Swaziland and Lesotho. The primary beneficiaries are likely to be North America and Europe and, within the region, South Africa and Botswana. South Africa, at the same time, is the likely to lose home-trained skills. Like countries such as Canada, South Africa is likely to be both a victim and a beneficiary of the brain drain.

#### GOING FOR GOOD?

nother important issue is the per manence of skills emigration. Do SADC students with itchy feet think they will leave for good? Around 30% of students said they wanted to move to their MLD for less than two years (40% more than two years) (Table 14). Slightly fewer (25% and 23%) said it was likely that they would do so. In other words, more students say that they want to stay away for longer than two years than say it was likely they would actually do so. Still, the figures are high. If nearly half of all new graduates are likely to leave their home country (and a quarter for longer than two years), this represents a significant long-term loss of skills.

Respondents were then asked how long they would stay away. Any move of up to five years duration can in some sense be seen as "temporary" (perhaps a desire to get further training or to earn more money at the outset of one's career). Anything over 5 years can justifiably be seen as permanent. As Table 14 also shows, students leaving their home country would not see the move as short term (11% a year or less). Forty seven percent said their departure would be for a period of 1-5 years. Significantly, though, as many as a third saw the move as likely to be permanent. There are two groups of countries: South Africans (19%), Namibians (22%) and BaTswana (26%) are all less likely to go permanently; Zimbabweans (50%), Swazis (40%) and Basotho (40%) are more likely to do so.

Another measure of permanence relates not to length but to desired category of residence. In general, the desire to acquire permanent residence and citizenship in the MLD is relatively strong (Table 15). In other words, the answers to this question tend to confirm the strength of commitment to permanent emigration amongst a significant minority of students. Just over half of the respondents in Zimbabwe, Swaziland and Lesotho expressed a desire to acquire permanent residence in their MLD. However, in Namibia and Botswana only a third expressed similar interest. Similarly, more Zimbabweans and Swazis said they

Table 14: Length of	Table 14: Length of stay in the MLD										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Extent of desire to m	nove to MLD t	for less thar	n two years								
Great extent	39.3	27.6	27.8	28.6	26.0	22.6	30.1				
Some extent	39.8	40.7	40.7	38.2	40.7	37.6	39.6				
Extent of desire to m	nove to MLD t	for longer th	nan two year	'S	-						
Great extent	27.9	30.4	37.4	62.2	52.2	45.6	40.9				
Some extent	35.8	30.8	35.9	22.5	28.9	25.5	30.5				
Likelihood of moving	Likelihood of moving to MLD for less than two years										
Very likely	27.2	17.7	16.0	20.8	15.6	51.3	25.3				
Likely	42.3	42.4	39.6	40.3	44.7	0.0	35.6				
Likelihood of moving	to MLD for lo	onger than t	two years								
Very likely	20.9	21.8	22.3	46.3	28.4	0.0	22.9				
Likely	31.3	27.6	28.0	29.8	33.1	60.3	34.8				
Only two top catego	ries reported	above									
Length of stay in ML	.D										
Less than 6 months	4.4	6.0	5.4	1.3	2.6	6.6	4.4				
6 months to one year	10.0	9.6	4.2	2.7	5.0	5.8	6.7				
1 to 2 years	31.5	25.5	16.8	7.7	12.0	14.1	19.6				
2 to 5 years	26.4	25.9	37.7	30.3	26.6	22.6	28.0				
More than 5 years	19.0	22.0	25.9	49.7	43.7	43.8	32.1				
Don't know	8.7	11.1	9.9	8.3	10.0	7.1	9.1				

would want to become citizens in their MLD. The highest percentages of respondents who desired to retire in their MLD were from Swaziland (38%), Zimbabwe (37%) and Lesotho (36%).

The impact of the brain drain can be mitigated somewhat if emigrants retain strong social and economic ties with home (Table 16). Less than 10% of the total sample were prepared to give up their home, take all of their possessions or all of their assets out of the country. Similarly, very few were willing to give up their citizenship. Zimbabwe is the main anomaly. Zimbabwean students are significantly more dissatisfied with their economic prospects and more willing to cut their links with home when they leave. Even there, however, the majority would retain links with home.

Table 15: Type of Residence in the MLD										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
Extent of desire to become a permanent resident in MLD										
Large extent	15.8	8.9	10.1	32.8	23.2	26.9	19.2			
Some extent	30.7	24.9	23.2	27.0	34.3	31.3	28.8			
Average	46.5	33.8	33.3	59.8	57.5	58.2	48.0			
Extent of desire to I	oecome a citiz	en in MLD								
Large extent	15.6	6.8	6.2	30.8	23.5	22.2	17.3			
Some extent	30.5	19.6	19.7	26.5	32.5	25.6	26.4			
Average	46.1	26.4	25.9	57.3	56.0	47.8	43.7			
Extent of desire to	etire in MLD			-						
Large extent	11.0	5.8	7.6	18.8	16.7	15.7	12.4			
Some extent	20.9	11.0	15.0	18.5	21.4	20.4	18.3			
Average	31.9	16.8	22.6	37.3	38.1	36.1	30.7			
Only two top catego	ries and aver	age percent	tages for all	five categori	es reported					

Table 16: Strength of Links with Home										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average			
Willingness to give up home in home country										
Very willing	6.7	7.0	5.4	17.1	7.6	12.9	9.1			
Willing	21.7	14.8	10.7	12.0	13.4	14.9	15.5			
Willingness to take a	Willingness to take all possessions out of the country									
Very willing	5.9	4.0	3.1	14.1	7.7	7.0	6.8			
Willing	20.2	8.6	8.2	12.1	10.1	10.6	12.8			
Willingness to take a	all assets out	of the coun	try							
Very willing	6.6	3.7	3.3	14.7	14.7	7.4	7.8			
Willing	17.7	9.2	6.2	9.6	9.6	10.5	8.1			
Willingness to give ι	ıp citizenship									
Very willing	4.8	4.0	3.2	17.0	8.6	9.6	7.5			
Willing	9.6	7.2	5.2	8.9	12.4	8.6	8.8			
Only two top categor	ries reported									

Only 4% of students across the region said they would never return once they had left (10% of Zimbabweans) (Table 17). Over 60% said they would return at least once a year. Again, only 4% said they would not remit funds back home. The vast majority (63%) said they would send money home at least once a month. In general, students show a much greater willingness to maintain strong and regular contact with home than their older counterparts.

Table 17: Maintain	ing Links Wi	th Home					
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average
Frequency of return	to home coul	ntry:			-		
Weekly	1.3	3.1	3.9	0.6	2.5	4.5	2.5
Monthly	6.3	9.1	9.5	6.7	18.7	25.6	11.8
Once every few months	34.2	23.6	25.5	20.7	32.3	28.6	28.3
Yearly	44.2	39.6	42.7	35.6	28.8	23.7	36.9
Once every few years	9.6	15.0	10.3	19.7	9.6	10.0	12.0
Never	1.2	2.0	2.8	10.5	4.3	4.2	3.8
Don't know	3.2	7.7	5.5	6.3	3.9	3.4	4.8
Frequency of sendir	ng money hor	ne:					
More than once a month	8.2	12.2	4.2	25.2	9.3	12.9	11.6
Once a month	44.9	45.5	47.4	46.0	66.7	64.5	51.5
A few times a year	19.6	21.6	24.4	16.1	15.7	13.4	18.6
Once or twice a year	7.3	9.8	12.8	3.8	2.2	2.9	6.6
Just once or twice	3.7	2.2	4.4	1.6	1.0	1.3	2.5
Never	8.7	1.9	1.7	1.4	1.4	2.7	3.7
Don't know	7.6	7.0	5.1	6.0	3.8	2.1	5.6

The likelihood of leaving is clearly higher if new graduates have the support of their families and they are well-connected with people who have already left. These are the final two issues addressed in this paper. Nearly half of the students felt that their family would encourage them to leave Table 18). Family support for departure was perceived to be strongest in Zimbabwe (79%) and weakest in Botswana (33%). Whatever the family sentiment, the vast majority of students in all countries said that they would make their own decision on whether or not to leave. Today's student is obviously relatively footloose and independent-minded when it comes to making life-changing decisions.

Knowledge about people who have already emigrated is shown in Table 19. A total of 34% said they have a family member who has emigrated. Highest and lowest percentages were found in Zimbabwe and Botswana with 56% and 19% respectively. In Zimbabwe, 79% knew of an extended family member who had emigrated. Across the region, 59% had close friends who have emigrated. Again leading the pack was Zimbabwe at 81%. Nearly 80% of Zimbabweans knew fellow students/trainees/colleagues or co-workers who had emigrated, compared

with a regional percentage of 60%. For most students, then, emigration would not be a step into the unknown.

Table 18: Leaving the Home Country											
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Family attitude abou	Family attitude about leaving home country										
Strongly encourage	17.1	14.9	15.4	59.7	17.3	23.3	23.7				
Encourage	27.5	20.9	18.4	19.6	22.0	23.3	22.7				
Who would make final decision to move											
Self	77.1	65.2	71.5	78.7	67.3	69.4	72.2				
Spouse/partner	8.8	9.0	12.3	8.5	9.6	13.6	10.1				
Parents	10.2	18.2	11.1	8.1	18.2	12.2	12.7				
Other family members	1.5	2.8	1.5	1.6	2.1	2.2	1.9				
Others	1.1	1.1	2.1	1.0	1.0	1.6	1.3				
Don't know	1.3	3.7	1.4	2.2	1.8	1.0	1.8				

Table 19: Knowled	Table 19: Knowledge of People Who Have Left the Country										
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Knows at least one	Knows at least one or more emigrant amongst										
Members of immediate family	24.2	27.3	18.5	55.7	45.5	41.3	34.0				
Members of extended family	44.7	40.3	35.6	78.8	66.4	62.4	53.5				
Close friends	57.3	46.5	43.9	80.7	64.2	63.6	59.1				
Fellow students / trainees / colleagues / co-workers	56.2	51.5	47.6	78.2	65.4	65.5	60.3				
Has life become bet	ter or worse f	or the perm	anent emigr	ants?							
Much better	27.8	25.1	40.5	74.5	57.4	50.6	43.8				
Better	34.5	26.3	20.2	17.5	26.3	23.9	26.0				
Only two top catego	ries reported										

Finally, the students were asked whether life had become better or worse for permanent emigrants. An average of about 70% of respondents across the six countries think life has improved with emigration (with 92% of Zimbabweans holding this opinion). In general, therefore, the students of SADC remain incorrigibly optimistic about emigration.

# GOVERNMENT RESPONSES

he findings of this survey ought to be extremely sobering to all governments of the region. All are investing heavily in skills development. In happier times, these skills would be invested in the national and regional economy. Yet, there is a real danger that government is actually providing students with a passport out of their country and the region as a whole. This survey has identified considerably more than the understandable wanderlust of the newlygraduated. Across the region, large numbers of students are interested in and seriously considering leaving upon graduation. What can governments do to stem or reverse what is obviously an ongoing exclus? The survey asked students themselves this very question (Table 20).

When asked about national service, 39% agreed that people should complete some form of national service before enrolling at institutions of higher learning. The highest number in agreement was in Botswana and Lesotho, with 56% and 55% respectively. Most Zimbabwean students disagreed with any national service requirement.

Over half of the students (56%) felt that those who receive some form of government support should do some form of national service, but only 18% of the respondents held this view in Zimbabwe. With respect to policies that require citizens to work for some time in the country after completing their education, 41% were supportive. Highest percentages of support were found in Namibia (63%) and Lesotho (58%) while the lowest were in Zimbabwe (20%).

There was less support for the imposition of financial restrictions by governments. Also, the majority of students did not feel that the usual restrictive government measures to control the brain drain would make the situation worse by encouraging more to migrate. However, only 29% said that governments should pass legislation to make it more difficult to emigrate. The highest percentages were in Botswana with 35% and the lowest in Lesotho with only 14%. On the other hand, students were very clear about what governments should do to stabilize the situation. An average of 78% said that governments should encourage economic development in order to discourage out-migration. Over three-quarters of all respondents supported policies to encourage qualified professionals to return from abroad.

Table 20: Influence of Home Government Policies											
	South Africa	Namibia	Botswana	Zimbabwe	Swaziland	Lesotho	Average				
Government is completely justified or justified to:											
Require citizens to complete national/ public service before enrolling at institutions of higher learning	29.9	51.9	55.5	11.2	37.8	54.3	38.7				
Require citizens who have received government bursaries for education to complete national service	64.9	69.0	55.8	17.5	48.3	70.3	55.6				
Require citizens to work in the country for several years after completion of their education	31.2	62.9	46.4	20.1	36.1	58.2	41.3				
Government is comp	oletely justifie	d or justified	to:								
Require citizens to pay taxes on all income earned outside of your country	25.5	39.6	36.7	19.7	29.3	51.6	32.6				
Require citizens to pay a larger share of their income in taxes according to their ability to pay	24.3	31.9	26.4	22.5	24.3	33.5	26.8				
Limit the amount of money you may send out of your country	26.7	41.2	32.0	22.0	36.7	47.9	33.3				
It makes it much more likely or likely to migrate:											
If the government steps to make it more difficult to emigrate	32.3	27.6	24.1	32.3	20.1	27.8	28.0				
If the government required people leaving professionals schools to do one year national service in their area of expertise	38.8	33.9	29.4	35.8	29.4	31.8	33.9				

Table 20 continued											
If the government was going to allow people to hold only one passport	32.1	30.6	19.3	30.3	22.4	26.6	27.5				
If the government were to increase fees for emigration	26.9	22.4	22.6	26.9	17.3	21.5	23.5				
Government should:											
Encourage economic development, which will discourage people from leaving		76.5	78.8	77.1	83.2	78.0	78.1				
Enact legislation which will make it more difficult for students to migrate	26.8	45.1	35.4	25.4	26.1	14.3	28.5				
Institute measures which encourage the return of qual- ified professionals abroad	58.7	60.2	59.1	42.7	49.6	30.8	51.2				
Forge links in destination countries of emigrants to discourage them from employing emigrants	22.1	41.6	31.0	21.8	22.4	10.4	24.4				
Prohibit emigration	20.3	47.6	31.8	23.2	24.5	7.3	24.9				
Do nothing	1.2	17.7	10.9	3.7	16.3	5.9	7.9				
Take other steps	28.8	8.4	13.7	46.2	92.3	3.4	12.8				

# CONCLUSION

n spite of the fact that most SADC students are proud of their country, have a strong sense of national identity, have a strong desire to help build their countries with their talents and skills, and want to play a role in their country's future, the findings from this research show that there is a high risk of a continued brain drain from all six countries. A major finding from the research is that many of the students, especially from Zimbabwe, Lesotho and Swaziland, were taking emigration very seriously. Across the six countries, about 36% of the students said it was likely they would emigrate within six months after

graduation. This increases to about 52% within two years of graduation.

The findings reveal extremely low levels of satisfaction about current, personal and national economic conditions. There were modest expectations about improvement in the future in all the six countries with the Namibians the most optimistic. The least optimistic were the Swazis. This pattern of low expectations about the future was reflected across a number of measures including ability to find a job, professional advancement and level of income. Most of the respondents felt that the government was not doing enough to create employment opportunities for graduates.

SADC students are well informed about living conditions in other countries and it is not surprising that three-quarters perceived developed countries, especially those in Europe and North America, as places where they could do better than at home. Within the region the preferred country of destination is South Africa and Zimbabwe the least preferred. Zimbabwe has the highest number of students who know of people who have emigrated. It is also the country with the most students that considered people were much better off outside their home country. Also, most Zimbabweans said that the lives of migrants from their country are much better abroad. From the research results, most of the respondents in the six countries cited the level of income, ability to find a job (not necessarily the job they were trained for), prospects for professional advancement and cost of living as important reasons to go to their MLD. The most important reason in five out of the six countries was the level of income. Almost 50% of students have considered becoming permanent residents in their MLD with the highest percentage from Zimbabwe closely followed by Lesotho and Swaziland. Almost as many have considered becoming citizens in their MLD. However, in all six nations, few have applied for emigration documents, permanent residence and citizenship in their MLD.

The students identified a number of home government policies that have some effect on the likelihood of migration. However, these policies were relatively insignificant when viewed against the major reasons for migration. To keep graduates at home, the students want significant job creation, economic development, opportunities for professional advancement and improvements in the quality of life in their home country. Without these things, new graduates will continue to look for opportunities to ply their trade in other countries. The prognosis for stopping and reversing the brain drain remains bleak if the students of SADC are to be believed.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- 1 Peter Stalker, Workers without Frontiers: The Impact of Globalization on International Migration (Geneva: ILO, 2000); Jonathan Crush, "The Global Raiders: Nationalism, Globalization and the South African Brain Drain" Journal of International Affairs 56(2002): 147-72.
- 2 Robin Cohen, "The Brain Drain" In J. Crush and F. Veriava, Eds., Transforming South African Migration and Immigration Policy (Cape Town: SAMP, 1997); Robin Iredale, "The Migration of Professionals: Theories and Typologies" International Migration 39 (2001): 7-26; L. Lowell and A. Findlay, Migration of Highly Skilled Persons from Developing Countries: Impact and Policy Responses (Geneva: ILO/DFID, 2001); J-B Meyer, Policy Implications of the Brain Drain's Changing Face" SciDev.Net May 2003.
- David McDonald and Jonathan Crush (eds), *Destinations Unknown:*Perspectives on the Brain Drain in Southem Africa (Pretoria: Africa Institute, 2002).
- 4 Haroon Bhorat, Jean-Baptiste Meyer and Cecil Mlatsheni, "Skilled Labour Migration from Developing Countries: Study on South and Southern Africa" International Migration Papers No 52, International Labour Organization, 2002; C. Chetsanga, An Analysis of the Cause and Effect of the Brain Drain in Zimbabwe (Harare: Scientific and Industrial Research and Development Centre, 2003); Daniel Tevera and Jonathan Crush, The New Brain Drain from Zimbabwe. SAMP Migration Policy Series No. 29 (2003).
- 5 Ebony Consulting International, *Economic Impact of the HIV/AIDS Pandemic and Its Impact on Governance* (New York, 2002); *HIV/AIDS and Private Sector Employers in Southern Africa* (Pretoria: DFIDSA, 2003).
- 6 John Oucho, "Skilled Migration in Botswana: A Stable but Temporary Workforce" in John Oucho, Eugene Campbell and Elizabeth Mukamaambo. Botswana: Migration Perspectives and Prospects. SAMP Migration Policy Series No. 19 (2000).
- Jonathan Crush and David McDonald, "Evaluating South African Immigration Policy After Apartheid" *Africa Today* 48 (2001): 1-14.
- 8 Rudo Gaidzanwa, Voting With Their Feet: Migrant Zimbabwean Nurses and Doctors in the Era of Structural Adjustment. Research Report No. 111, Nordiska Afrikainstitutet (1999); OECD, "The International Mobility of Health Professionals: An Evaluation and Analysis Based on the Case of South Africa" In Trends in International Migration: 2003 (OECD, 2004), pp. 115-51; Abel Chikanda, Medical Leave: The Brain Drain of Health Professionals from Zimbabwe, SAMP Migration Policy Series No. 34 (2004).
- 9 Steven Vertovec, "Transnational Networks and Skilled Labour Migration" Paper presented at Conference on Migration, Ladenburg, February 2002.
- 10 Mamphela Ramphele, *Immigration and Education: International Students at South African Universities and Technikons*, SAMP Migration Policy Series No.

- 12 (1999).
- Not all categories for all questions are reported in the tables which means that columns do not always total 100%. Table percentages are reported to the nearest tenth of a percent while in the text percentages are rounded off to the nearest percent.
- 12 Wade Pendleton and Jonathan Crush, *Regionalizing Xenophobia? Citizen Attitudes to Immigration and Refugee Policy in Southern Africa*. SAMP Migration Policy Series No. 30 (2004).

# MIGRATION POLICY SERIES

- 1. Covert Operations: Clandestine Migration, Temporary Work and Immigration Policy in South Africa (1997) ISBN 1-874864-51-9
- 2. Riding the Tiger: Lesotho Miners and Permanent Residence in South Africa (1997) ISBN 1-874864-52-7
- 3. International Migration, Immigrant Entrepreneurs and South Africa's Small Enterprise Economy (1997) ISBN 1-874864-62-4
- 4. Silenced by Nation Building: African Immigrants and Language Policy in the New South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-64-0
- 5. Left Out in the Cold? Housing and Immigration in the New South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-68-3
- 6. Trading Places: Cross-Border Traders and the South African Informal Sector (1998) ISBN 1-874864-71-3
- 7. Challenging Xenophobia: Myth and Realities about Cross-Border Migration in Southern Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-70-5
- 8. Sons of Mozambique: Mozambican Miners and Post-Apartheid South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-78-0
- 9. Women on the Move: Gender and Cross-Border Migration to South Africa (1998) ISBN 1-874864-82-9.
- 10. Namibians on South Africa: Attitudes Towards Cross-Border Migration and Immigration Policy (1998) ISBN 1-874864-84-5.
- 11. Building Skills: Cross-Border Migrants and the South African Construction Industry (1999) ISBN 1-874864-84-5
- 12. Immigration & Education: International Students at South African Universities and Technikons (1999) ISBN 1-874864-89-6
- 13. The Lives and Times of African Immigrants in Post-Apartheid South Africa (1999) ISBN 1-874864-91-8
- 14. Still Waiting for the Barbarians: South African Attitudes to Immigrants and Immigration (1999) ISBN 1-874864-91-8
- 15. Undermining Labour: Migrancy and Sub-contracting in the South African Gold Mining Industry (1999) ISBN 1-874864-91-8
- 16. Borderline Farming: Foreign Migrants in South African Commercial Agriculture (2000) ISBN 1-874864-97-7
- 17. Writing Xenophobia: Immigration and the Press in Post-Apartheid South Africa (2000) ISBN 1-919798-01-3
- 18. Losing Our Minds: Skills Migration and the South African Brain Drain (2000) ISBN 1-919798-03-x
- 19. Botswana: Migration Perspectives and Prospects (2000) ISBN 1-919798-04-8
- 20. The Brain Gain: Skilled Migrants and Immigration Policy in Post-Apartheid South Africa (2000) ISBN 1-919798-14-5
- 21. Cross-Border Raiding and Community Conflict in the Lesotho-South African Border Zone (2001) ISBN 1-919798-16-1

- 22. Immigration, Xenophobia and Human Rights in South Africa (2001) ISBN 1-919798-30-7
- 23. Gender and the Brain Drain from South Africa (2001) ISBN 1-919798-35-8
- 24. Spaces of Vulnerability: Migration and HIV/AIDS in South Africa (2002) ISBN 1-919798-38-2
- 25. Zimbabweans Who Move: Perspectives on International Migration in Zimbabwe (2002) ISBN 1-919798-40-4
- 26. The Border Within: The Future of the Lesotho-South African International Boundary (2002) ISBN 1-919798-41-2
- 27. Mobile Namibia: Migration Trends and Attitudes (2002) ISBN 1-919798-44-7
- 28. Changing Attitudes to Immigration and Refugee Policy in Botswana (2003) ISBN 1-919798-47-1
- 29. The New Brain Drain from Zimbabwe (2003) ISBN 1-919798-48-X
- 30. Regionalizing Xenophobia? Citizen Attitudes to Immigration and Refugee Policy in Southern Africa (2004) ISBN 1-919798-53-6
- 31. Migration, Sexuality and HIV/AIDS in Rural South Africa (2004) ISBN 1-919798-63-3
- 32. Swaziland Moves: Perceptions and Patterns of Modem Migration (2004) ISBN 1-919798-67-6
- 33. HIV/AIDS and Children's Migration in Southern Africa (2004) ISBN 1-919798-70-6
- 34. *Medical Leave: The Exodus of Health Professionals from Zimbabwe* (2005) ISBN 1-919798-74-9